FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/5/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Washington Supreme Court

Supreme Court Docket No. 101863-1

Division I Docket No. 84106-8

King Cy. Sup. Ct. Cause No. 21-2-13175-8SEA

KAITLYN FLYNN, et al.,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

-against-

WOODINVILLE ANIMAL HOSPITAL, P.S., et al.,

Defendants-Respondents.

CORRECTED PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

ADAM P. KARP, ESQ. ANIMAL LAW OFFICES, PLLC Attorney for Petitioners Flynn 114 W. Magnolia St., Ste. 400-104 Bellingham, WA 98225 (888) 430-0001 WSBA No. 28622

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Flynns acquired Clementine, a female Pug, in 2019. Suffering from diagnosed emotional disabilities, for which he was under treatment by a health care provider, Clementine became Mr. Flynn's emotional support animal ("ESA"). She died on 1.20.21 at BluePearl following a surgery performed by Defendant Kent Vince, who attempted to correct a bladder rupture that took place while she was at WAH. The Flynns raced her from WAH to BluePearl in that period of crisis and observed her suffering. **CP 165.**

In just two years, the Flynns spent approximately \$9000 on

Clementine. Money was no object as she was family. Aside from large numbers of toys, clothing accessories, beds, blankets, dishes, crates, a travel kennel, and play pen, they bought her two sets of pet stairs (to ascend to their bed and couch), and let her ride along with their older pug Comrade in his stroller, that is, when they were not exercising her two miles a day. Comrade's leash was emblazoned with the label "Emotional Support." Comrade was his ESA until he passed in October 2020, only three months before Clementine did. Clementine assumed that role in Comrade's stead.

CP 165-166.

Clementine sensed when he and his wife were ill at ease or depressed and would intervene to ameliorate their conditions. For about eight years, Mr. Flynn had suffered from various mental health conditions for which he saw a psychiatrist and took medication. Clementine was taking over as his ESA from Comrade. When he began to have panic attacks, she would immediately calm him, the reason why the Flynns always called her "Nurse Pug." Clementine was always the best medicine. She slept with Mr. Flynn every night and literally had to have her head on the pillow, with occasionally her face on theirs. It destroyed him emotionally not having a cuddler to ease the nightly transitions. CP 167.

As a direct consequence of Clementine's suffering and death following her ruptured bladder, Mr. Flynn experienced frequent insomnia,

inability to focus, and depression. For at least six months after her passing, he found it difficult to feel any joy in life. His business also suffered as a result of lacking motivation. Mr. Flynn saw his psychiatrist, noting his devastation, physical symptomatology, and need for additional treatment. Clementine was not merely a "pet." **CP 169-171.** Nor was she just "injured" by garden-variety "negligence."

The Flynns sued WAH for corporate negligence, NIED, and breach of veterinary services contract; WAH's employee, veterinarian Nichole Frei-Johnson, for professional negligence and NIED; BluePearl for corporate negligence, NIED, and breach of veterinary services contract; and BluePearl's employee, boarded veterinary surgeon Vince, for professional negligence and NIED. **CP 9-10.** As admitted in discovery, WAH and BluePearl failed to implement any policies or procedures to address numerous patient care practices at issue in this case. **CP 68, 163.**

WAH, a professional services corporation advertises itself as operating like any other human hospital in providing a "full-service companion animal facility" with "comprehensive veterinary care throughout the life of your pet," including "preventative medicine, general dentistry, general surgery, and radiology" with "in-house laboratory to provide rapid diagnostics and years of experience in a wide range of

treatment modalities." CP 2. WAH has three veterinarians, a hospital manager, veterinary technician, four veterinary assistants, three veterinary receptionists, and a kennel assistant. WAH advertises wellness exams, internal medicine, vaccinations, digital radiology, dental care, and surgery. CP 130-149. The WAH invoices are issued by the hospital itself, not separately by each veterinarian or a radiology department. CP 155-157.

BluePearl, a professional corporation, advertises itself as a "20,000 square-foot hospital" and "24-hour pet hospital" with "CT scanner, MRI, digital radiography, ultrasonography, fluoroscopy and endoscopy, along with a new on-site commercial pathology lab," where "experienced veterinarians, vet technicians and support staff work closely together to provide the comprehensive, compassionate care your pet needs and deserves." It conveys its exclusive focus on "emergency treatment and advanced specialty veterinary care." CP 45-52. BluePearl billed the Flynns \$8251.38. CP 58-62. BluePearl is headquartered in Tampa, Florida and defines itself as a "national network of emergency and specialty pet hospitals." It boasts over 100 hospitals in 29 States and employs thousands of veterinarians, veterinary technicians, and other professionals.

-

¹ Woodinvilleanimal.com (accessed 4.5.23)

² Bluepearlyet.com/hospital/Kirkland-wa (accessed 4.5.23)

³ Bluepearlyet.com/our-story (accessed 4.4.23)

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/BluePearl Specialty and Emergency Pet Hospital (accessed 4.4.23); https://www.instagram.com/bluepearlvet/ (accessed 4.4.23)

On 4.25.22, the Honorable Douglass A. North granted BluePearl/Vince's motion for partial summary judgment dismissal of the corporate negligence and NIED claims against those moving Defendants. **Exh. B.** On 5.12.22, Judge North entered a similar order as to WAH/Frei-Johnson. **Exh. B.** And on 5.31.22, over BluePearl/Vince's objection, Judge North granted the Flynns' motion to finalize and certify his 4.25.22 and 5.12.22 orders for immediate appeal. **Exh. B.** On 3.6.23, Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. This petition for review follows.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. RAP 13.4(b)(4) – Substantial Public Importance

Issues of first impression that affect not only the parties at bar but potentially thousands of other daily interactions throughout this State, warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). *State v. Watson,* 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005). By a conservative estimate, there are hundreds of veterinary clinics and hospitals in Washington, in virtually every city, rural or urban. According to Loralei Walker, Program Manager for the Washington State Department of Health, as of 4.4.23, there are 4406 licensed veterinarians in Washington,⁵ who are responsible for examining millions of pets each year. Per the 2022 U.S. Census, Washington has about 7.8 million inhabitants and

5

⁵ Confirmed by phone call by author on 4.4.23.

approximately 2.9 million households.⁶ The American Veterinary Medical Association's 2017-2018 U.S. Pet Ownership & Demographics Sourcebook observed that 62.7% of all Washington households (then 1.78 million) owned pets in 2016.⁷ 42.8% owned dogs⁸ and 30.5% owned cats.⁹ The American Pet Product Association's 2021-2022 National Pet Owners Survey determined that 86.9 million homes (66% of all U.S. households). All told, in 2022, Americans spent \$136.8 billion on their pets.¹⁰ And if Seattle is illustrative, there are more dogs and cats living within city limits than children, reflecting our unabashedly cynophilic and ailurophilic culture.¹¹

The trial court acknowledged, over BluePearl's objection, that the issues raised by the Flynns were ones for which a substantial ground for a difference of opinion existed, which, while not in and of itself defining them as possessing substantial public importance, reflects that they rest on highly fertile soil from which should spring decisions resolving issues that beckon

_

⁶ Census.gov/quickfacts/WA (accessed 4.4.23).

⁷ Sourcebook, 27 (S1-Tab 5).

⁸ Sourcebook, 41 (S1-Tab 16).

⁹ Sourcebook, 55 (S1-Tab 26).

¹⁰ American pet products.org/press industry trends.asp (accessed 4.5.23)

¹¹ See Diana Wurn, Seattle's Dog Obsession, Seattle Magazine (October 2011) ("With more canines than children living within city limits, Seattle has officially gone to the dogs."); Gene Balk, In Seattle, it's cats, dogs and kids – in that order, The Seattle Times (February 1, 2013) ("Seattle has more dogs than children. We've practically become famous for it.").

for millions of similarly situated individuals. That both the corporate negligence and NIED issues were borne from the common law about fifty years ago (corporate negligence per *Pedroza v. Bryan*, 101 Wn.2d 226 (1984) and NIED per *Hunsley v. Giard*, 87 Wn.2d 424 (1976)), and were the subject of recurring Washington Supreme Court treatment at regular intervals since, also endorses the view that they are of abiding importance and applicability to Washingtonians, not victims of doctrinal desuetude. ¹²

A. Corporate Negligence.

Veterinary hospitals must make equivalent management decisions as their human hospital counterparts, as to staffing and licensing checks, safe and provisioned facilities, functional equipment, adequate supplies, and issues requiring corporate-level intervention and correction of systemic problems. They must also ensure client and patient integrity within its walls and, in so doing, properly monitor and supervise delivery of health care

-

¹² The Washington Supreme Court heard numerous corporate negligence and NIED cases since 1984, each of which raising issues seen in the veterinary context. See Exh. A. And consider Howell v. Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank, 114 Wn.2d 42 (1990) (negligent selection, retention, and supervision of performance of medical staff); Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wn.2d 242 (1991) (negligent supervision of dentist); Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484 (1997) (negligently conferring privileges to two doctors who were allegedly unqualified to recognize or treat serious neurological condition); DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr., 136 Wn.2d 136 (1998) (negligent supervision of doctor during administration of radiation treatment to patient's eyes); Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769 (2012) (discovery dispute to obtain internal quality assurance records relative to 170 intravenous infusion injuries at hospital, showing pattern of negligence by hospital failing to establish protocols to correct serious and systemic IV infusion procedure problem).

within the hospital. Yet, the Court of Appeals, in affirming, held that "The legislature is in the best position to determine whether the corporate negligence doctrine should be extended to reach animal hospitals." **Exh. A**, **9.** This decision, however, mistakes the doctrine's lineage, which was never legislative. Rather, the Court woodenly applied abstract principles to a plainly analogous factual scenario and, in so doing, disregarded the underlying circumstances that commended the doctrine in the first place when it stated animals are not humans, Washington precedent only applies to humans, so no further analysis is required. Rather, they made an unremarkable observation—i.e., human hospitals treat humans; veterinary hospitals treat nonhumans, who are property.

From this truism, they attempt to treat the obvious distinction as both a factual foundation and legal conclusion. *Pedroza* and progeny did not give birth to corporate negligence because its patients were human (vs. nonhuman), but because the hospital itself owed a separate duty of care to its patients comprised of various obligations not reached by an individual health care provider operating in a vacuum. In some instances, patient and client injury will not be attributable to a specific person or persons within the veterinary hospital, but rather more broadly to a failure by the corporation to employ sufficient processes and safeguards to guard against harm. The irony, of course, is that the Court of Appeals held that the

corporate negligence doctrine should not apply here because animals are nonhuman when the same charge can be made against the corporation itself.

Since when did corporations, while bestowed the status of legal persons, not owe commensurate legal duties of care to those they harm? The focus should not be on the species of the patient, but rather the principles of due care that undergird tort law, whether inflicted by fictitious legal persons like corporations or natural legal persons like veterinarians, since, after all, "At common law, **every individual** owes a duty of reasonable care to refrain from causing foreseeable harm in interactions with others." *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 550 (2019) (emphasis added).

As the Pennsylvania Supreme Court observed in *Scampone v*. *Highland Park Care Center, LLC*, 618 Pa. 363 (2012), corporate negligence doctrine applies outside the health care context as well:

Where a corporation is concerned, the ready distinction between direct and vicarious liability is somewhat obscured because we accept the general premise that the corporation through its officers, employees, and agents. See Tayar v. Camelback Ski Corp., Inc., 47 A.3d 1190, 1196 (Pa.2012). The corporation, as principal, assumes the risk of individual agents' negligence under the vicarious liability. See, theory of e.g., Iandiorio v. **598 Kriss & Senko Enters., Inc., 512 Pa. 392, 517 A.2d 530 (1986); Aiello v. Ed Saxe Real Estate, Inc., 508 Pa. 553, 499 A.2d 282 (1985). In this scenario, the corporation's liability is derivative of the agents' breach of their duties of care to the plaintiff. But, this Court has also recognized that a corporation may also owe duties of care directly to a plaintiff, separate from those of its individual agents, such as duties to maintain safe facilities, and to hire and oversee competent staff. See, e.g., Thompson, supra (corporate hospital owed patient non-delegable duty of care to enforce consultation and patient monitoring policies); Gilbert v. Korvette, Inc., 457 Pa. 602, 327 A.2d 94, 102 (1974) (corporation owed customer non-delegable duty of care to maintain premises); Dempsey v. Walso Bureau, Inc., 431 Pa. 562, 246 A.2d 418 (1968) (corporation owed employee duty of reasonable care in hiring other employees); accord Atcovitz v. Gulph *390 Mills Tennis Club, Inc., 571 Pa. 580, 812 A.2d 1218 (2002) (if duty exists, corporation may be held directly liable for negligence). Accordingly, as a general proposition, the recognition that a corporation acts through its agents has not been held to be a fatal impediment to haling a corporation into court on direct liability tort claims.

Id., 389-390. In rejecting the view that allowing direct and vicarious liability would spawn jury confusion and undermine simplicity and fairness, *Scampone* held that "The direct and vicarious theories of liability are grounded in distinct policies and serve complementary purposes in the law of torts, with the goal of fully compensating a victim of negligence in the appropriate case." *Id.*, 390.

Pennsylvania resisted the approach taken by the Court of Appeals and Defendants below, i.e., to reject the "precedential mantle" of prior Washington decisions "based simply on formulaic reading" that inquires merely whether a veterinary hospital is a human hospital. "The relevant question," is not whether a human patient is similar or dissimilar to a nonhuman patient, but whether the legal principles apply to describe

corporate veterinary hospitals' legal duty or obligation to their patients and clients, given the considerations which pertain. The approach taken by the Court of Appeals makes too much of the facts in *Pedroza* and is of limited use in developing a principled analysis of relevant considerations with respect to other entities within and without the healthcare field.

Restatement (2nd) of Torts § 323 has been adopted as defining nondelegable duties of corporations to plaintiffs, including in Pennsylvania as to hospitals (see *Riddle Mem. Hosp. v. Dohan*, 504 Pa. 571 (1984)). Importantly, it contemplates duties owed for protection of property:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other's person **or things**, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his undertaking, if

- (a) his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or
- (b) the harm is suffered because of the other's reliance upon the undertaking.

Restatement (2nd) Torts 323 (emphasis added). Washington courts have adopted this Restatement provision. See, e.g., Norg v. City of Seattle, 18 Wash.App.2d 399, 408-409 (2021).

These equitable aims of negligence decisional law are not peculiar to Pennsylvania, but govern in any legal environment, one that does not

depend on statute, nongovernmental standards, or by-laws, to function. Thus, whether Ch. 7.70 RCW applies to veterinarians is irrelevant, ¹³ for it provides merely a statutory gloss on certain causes of action against enumerated individuals and entities and has no influence on common law. Thus, far from serving as a reason to decline to extend the doctrine to veterinary hospitals, caselaw provides a ready template upon which veterinary plaintiffs may prove hospital breach – e.g., looking to American Animal Hospital Association ("AAHA") and American Veterinary Medical Association ("AVMA") standards and, in this case, BluePearl's and WAH's by-laws. The Washington Department of Health also has enacted highly detailed standards regarding veterinary facilities and practices (WAC 246-933-310--246-933-350), registered entities to provide limited veterinary services (WAC 246-933-501--246-933-590), administration of legend, nonlegend, and controlled substances (WAC 246-935-400--246-935-990), and registered veterinary medication clerks (Ch. 246-937 WAC).

In sum, no relevant dissimilarities exist to deny the equitable and judicious extension of a common law tort doctrine to a litigation-adjacent

-

¹³ The Department of Health also disciplines veterinarians using the same procedural machinery (Ch. 18.130 RCW) wielded against human health care providers. Indeed, pharmacists, who are explicitly defined as health care providers under RCW 7.70.020(1) ("a ... pharmacist"), are expressly charged with the preparation and delivery of drugs to nonhumans. See nonhuman references in RCW 18.64.011(10); RCW 18.64.011(14); WAC 246-945-016.

area, filling liability lacunae that if left open would only do substantial injustice. But perhaps the best argument in favor of accepting review is that, as to corporate negligence, not a single court anywhere in the country has addressed the question of whether a veterinary hospital, particularly one that is highly corporatized¹⁴ like BluePearl (owned by Mars Inc.¹⁵), owes a hospital-level duty of care to its clients and patients irrespective of independent duties of its veterinarians. Thus, the question raised here is one of substantial public importance *in the national theater* as well, and Washington would be the first State to speak to the matter.

The corporatization of the veterinary profession has caught the attention of FTC regulators, signaled the demise of the privately-owned veterinary hospital, imposed quotas to push veterinary employees to sell whatever diagnostics, vaccines, and procedures they could, and resulted in a declining level of care.¹⁶ Not only does this raise concerns about

⁻

¹⁴ R. Scott Nolen, *The corporatization of veterinary medicine: Corporation's involvement in historically entrepreneurial profession generates uncertainty, JAVMA News* (11.14.18) [https://www.avma.org/javma-news/2018-12-01/corporatization-veterinary-medicine] (accessed 4.4.23). Nolen observes that, back in 2018, VCA operated over 800 clinics in North America, corporations owned about 10% of all general companion animal practices, and 40-50% of all referral practices, and that Mars Inc. bought out Banfield, BluePearl, Pet Partners, and VCA as of 2017. Banfield Pet Hospital, which is a familiar adjunct to Petsmarts nationwide, has over 1000 hospitals. Banfield.com/en/about-banfield (accessed 4.4.23).

¹⁵ Mars.com/made-by-mars/petcare (accessed 4.4.23) (buying out Banfield, VCA, BluePearl).

¹⁶ An estimated 75% of specialty veterinary practices are corporately owned. In June 2022, the FTC forced sales of some practices over concerns that ownership was becoming too concentrated. Linda Carroll, *Veterinary Practices are Increasingly Corporately Owned, and Pets Owners Pay the Price,* Observer (3.19.23)

corporations interfering with the professional discretion of veterinarians, but fails to render corporate misdeeds in the veterinary profession visible to the law of torts that half a century ago acknowledged, and rectified, the precise ills afflicting the human hospital. With so many lives and billions of dollars at stake, has not the time come for this court to examine this pressing issue?

B. NIED.

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