FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/4/2023 10:34 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101863-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 84106-8-I

KAITLYN FLYNN and KEVIN FLYNN,

Petitioners.

v.

WOODINVILLE ANIMAL HOSPITAL, P.S., et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RESPONDENTS BLUEPEARL WASHINGTON PRACTICE ENTITY, P.C., AND KENT J. VINCE, DVM, MSPVM, DACVS John C. Versnel, III, WSBA No. 17755 Andrew H. Gustafson, WSBA No. 51399 Attorneys for Respondents BLUEPEARL WASHINGTON PRACTICE ENTITY, P.C., AND KENT J. VINCE, DVM, MSPVM, DACVS

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

### V. ARGUMENT

## A. Petitioners do not argue that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) or (3).

Petitioners assert grounds for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) only. Petitioners do not offer any argument in support of any other basis for this court to accept review. Petitioners therefore concede that review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) or (3).

## B. Petitioners meet none of the requirements for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b).

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, this Court will grant a petition for review only:

- (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in

conflict with the decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Petitioners claim – wrongly – that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, this petition for review should be denied because it fails to satisfy any basis for Supreme Court review.

Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles petitioners to review by this Court simply because they disagree with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or

presented decided generally. issues The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of Failure to show the court the "big the time. picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

Here, petitioners assert that the issues presented for review are whether Division One "erred" by (1) "refusing to reinstate the common law claim of corporate negligence"; and (2) "refusing to reinstate the common law claim of negligent infliction of emotional distress." Petition for Review at 1. Neither assertion is true. Yet even if they were, none of RAP 13.4(b)'s four enumerated grounds permits Supreme Court review merely to correct errors by the Court of Appeals. Rather, appellants must show that this case is sufficiently exceptional to "transcend the particular application of the law in question." Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11. Petitioners show nothing of the sort. Thus, neither of these

assertions meets RAP 13.4 to warrant the extraordinary step of review by this Court.

- C. This case presents no issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).
  - 1. The Court should disregard petitioners' references to materials not in the record.

The Flynns contend this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Petition for Review at 5. As an introductory matter, petitioners violate a fundamental principle of appellate practice by both failing to cite to the Clerk's Papers and attempting to introduce materials not reviewed by the superior court when it rendered its decision. Supra, § IV. A. An appellant must provide "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." RAP 10.3(a)(6); Holland v. City of Tacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998). Petitioners have unequivocally failed to do so, and this Court should deny review for that reason alone.

# 2. This Court's jurisprudence on what constitutes an issue of substantial public interest shows review should be denied.

This petition plainly does not concern an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. This Court has addressed what constitutes an issue of public interest:

The criteria to be considered in determining whether sufficient public interest is involved are: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination which will provide future guidance to public officers; (3) the likelihood that the question will reoccur.

Dep't of Ecology v. Adsit, 103 Wn.2d 698, 705, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985); Sorensen v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Case laws shows that a question that meets these criteria will almost always implicate constitutional principles or the validity of statutes or other legislative enactments. In re Myers, 105 Wn.2d 257, 714 P.2d 303 (1986); Gen. Tel. Co. of the Northwest, Inc. v. City of Bothell, 105 Wn.2d 597, 716 P.2d 879 (1986); Adsit, 103 Wn.2d at 705; State ex rel. Chapman v. Superior Court, 15 Wn.2d 637, 642-

43, 131 P.2d 958 (1942); State ex rel. Yakima Amusement Co. v. Yakima County, 192 Wn. 179, 73 P.2d 759 (1937).

Here, this petition does not present a question that is public in nature, impact the conduct of governmental officers, or pose a constitutional or statutory challenge. It is a dispute between private parties concerning the death of a dog due to alleged veterinary malpractice.

Inexplicably, petitioners cite to *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005). There, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion finding a memorandum by the county prosecuting attorney to all county superior court judges, announcing that, as a general policy, the prosecuting attorney's office would no longer recommend drug offender sentencing alternative ("DOSA") sentences, constituted an improper ex parte communication with the trial court. *Id.* at 576. This Court determined the ruling of the Court of Appeals involved an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), as the holding had "sweeping implications" with the potential to affect

every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA was or is at issue. *Id.* at 577.

Here, in stark contrast to *Watson*, there are no "sweeping implications" from Division One's opinion affirming dismissal of claims that are not available under settled Washington law. Thus, the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest, and this Court should deny review.

3. Division One's decision to issue an unpublished opinion further suggests this case does not involve issues of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision to issue only an unpublished opinion in this case further shows that the Supreme Court should deny review. In issuing the opinion as an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals determined that it has no precedential value:

Each panel shall determine whether a decision of the court has **sufficient** precedential value to be published as an opinion of the court. Decisions determined not to have precedential value shall not be published.

RCW 2.06.040 (emphasis added).

"In enacting this amendment the legislature recognized that opinions which do not have sufficient precedential value to affect the common law of our state should not be published." *State v. Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 661, 669, 491 P.2d 262 (1971), *rev. denied*, 80 Wn.2d 1003 (1972). To continue publication of cases that merely restate established principles of law inevitably complicates legal research. *Id*.

RAP 12.3(e) sets forth criteria for a party or other interested persons to move for publication for a Court of Appeals decision. By issuing an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals in this case impliedly rejected those criteria, including whether the decision (1) determines an unsettled or new question of law or constitutional principle; (2) modifies, clarifies or reverses an established principle of law; (3) is of general public interest or importance; or (4) is in conflict with a prior opinion of the Court of Appeals.

One of the criteria under RAP 12.3(e) is "whether the decision is of general public interest or importance." RAP

12.3(e)(5). This criterion closely resembles the "substantial public interest" ground for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Again, by deciding not to publish this decision, the Court of Appeals impliedly concluded that no such public interest or importance exists. This Court should reach the same conclusion.

As a practical matter, the unpublished status of the Court of Appeals' decision means that it has no precedential value of any kind. *State v. Sanchez*, 74 Wn. App. 763, 765, 875 P.2d 712 (1994). Therefore, there exists no need for this Court to accept review to supposedly "set the record straight" even if it disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, because that decision will have no legal effect on the status of other litigants in cases involving the same or similar issues.

4. An extension of the law allowing the recovery of emotional distress damages in this context is more appropriately made by the legislature.

Again, under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this Court may grant review "if the petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Emphasis added. Here, the radical extension of liability sought by petitioners is more appropriately made by the legislature.

There is no recognized cause of action in Washington for wrongful death of a companion animal. *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wn. App. 855, 860 n.1, 195 P.3d 539 (2008). Although petitioners do not couch their claim in terms of the wrongful death of Clementine, petitioners do seek emotional distress damages for the loss of that relationship. Petitioners' claims are no more than wrongful death claims repurposed as NIED claims.

"[C]ourts of this state have long and repeatedly held, causes of action for wrongful death are strictly a matter of legislative grace and are not recognized in the common law." *Philippides v. Bernard*, 151 Wn.2d 376, 390, 88 P.3d 939 (2004). Indeed, since the legislature has created a comprehensive scheme governing who may recover for wrongful death and survival, there is no room for this Court to

act in that area. *See Windust v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 52 Wn.2d 33, 36, 323 P.2d 241 (1958) ("A legislative enactment, intended to be comprehensive upon a subject, preempts that field").

The legislature has made various, difficult policy decisions regarding who may recover for wrongful death, allowing spouses, domestic partners, children, and parents of minor children to sue for wrongful death. RCW 4.24.010, RCW 4.20.020. But it has also decided that there is no cause of action for other relationships, such as parents of adult children and siblings (except when financially dependent), grandparents, and dear friends. *See* RCW 4.20.020. Similarly, the legislature did not create a cause of action to recover for the wrongful death of a companion animal. *See id*.

Importantly, in 2008, the legislature considered, and failed to adopt, a cause of action for "wrongful injury or death of a companion animal." *See* H.B. 2945, 60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2008). Yet petitioners invite this Court to accept

review, because "societal mores have evolved" and "the time is nigh" for Washington to allow recovery of emotional distress damages for the negligent death of a companion animal. Petition for Review at 21. Petitioners are mistaken. The legislature has decreed who may recover for wrongful death. There is no gap for this Court to step in and fill.

Thus, the petition does not involve issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

### 5. Petitioners are not without a remedy.

In an attempt to persuade this Court that the petition raises issues of substantial public importance, petitioners act as if their dismissed causes of action of corporate negligence and NIED leave them without a remedy. Not so. If petitioners manage to prove their claims of professional negligence against respondents, Washington has a three-part analysis for the measure of damages for the loss of personal property. *McCurdy v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, 68 Wn.2d 457, 413 P.2d 617 (1966).

The presumptive measure of damages for the negligent destruction of personal property, including a companion animal, is the fair market value of the property. *Sherman*, 146 Wn. App. at 870. If petitioners meet their burden of establishing that the dog both has no fair market value and cannot be replaced, the dog's value to its owner (also referred to as intrinsic value) may be considered in determining damages. *Id.* at 874. In determining intrinsic value, the finder of fact must consider objective evidence of the dog's utility and services and not the value the owner attributes to the dog's companionship or other sentimental value. *Id.* at 871-72.

Petitioners cite to no authority in support of the proposition that a desire to drastically expand the gamut of available remedies to aggrieved pet-owners constitutes an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found

none." DeHeer v. Seattle Post–Intelligencer, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962).

Thus, because petitioners offer no authority establishing that their petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, review should be denied.

# D. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not conflict with any other reported Washington decision.

### 1. Corporate Negligence

While petitioners do not expressly argue grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), petitioners claim Division One "disregarded the underlying circumstances that commended the doctrine in the first place when it stated animals are not humans, Washington precedent only applies to humans, so no further analysis is required." Petition for Review at 8. Division One did no such thing.

In determining that the legislature is in the best position to determine whether the corporate negligence doctrine should extend to animal hospitals, Division One thoroughly analyzed the origins of the doctrine and how animals are treated differently than humans under Washington law. Petition for Review, Ex. A at 4-9. Specifically, Division One noted that this Court recently reiterated that pets, as a matter of law, are considered personal property. State v. Abdi-Issa, 199 Wn.2d 163, 171, 504 P.3d 223 (2022) (citing Sherman, 146 Wn. App. at 870). Critically, the *Sherman* court concluded Chapter RCW 7.70, which governs all civil actions for damages that occur as a result of health care, does not apply to the treatment of animals by veterinarians. *Id.* at 867. Division One properly found that the Washington Pattern Jury Instruction ("WPI") on corporate negligence discusses cases and standards of care only pertaining to full service hospitals, including multiple references to RCW 7.70. WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CIVIL 105.02.02 (7th ed. 2022) (WPI).

Petitioner's suggestion that Division One's decision somehow misapplied the corporate negligence doctrine is

plainly mistaken. Accordingly, because Division One's decision is in harmony with all reported Washington decisions, this Court should deny review.

#### 2. NIED

Petitioners suggest that Clementine's status as an emotional support animal ("ESA") bears some sort of legal significance. It does not. "Although, [courts] have recognized the emotional importance of pets to their families, legally they remain in many jurisdictions, including Washington, property." Mansour v. King County, 131 Wn. App. 255, 267, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006). As Division One correctly noted, "the gravamen is not the degree of the emotional connection between the owner and its animal, but the fact that animals, whether they are pets or emotional support animals, are still considered property - even when there is a profound emotional connection." Petition for Review, Ex. A at 13. Petitioners' emphasis on Clementine's status as "a canine of a different legal pedigree" is simply a distinction without a difference. Petition for Review at 16.

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